# S195852

No. S
(Court of Appeal Nos. B212966, B214470)
(Los Angeles County Sup. Ct. No. BS112656)

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT

OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

SUPREME COURT
FILED

TODAY'S FRESH START, INC.,

AUG 23 2011

Plaintiff and Appellant,

Frederick K. Ohlrich Clark

VS.

#### LOS ANGELES COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION

CRC 8.25(b)

Defendants and Appellants.

After A Decision By The Court Of Appeal Second Appellate District, Division One.

#### PETITION FOR REVIEW

DOLL AMIR & ELEY LLP
MICHAEL M. AMIR (SBN 204491)
MARY TESH GLARUM (SBN 175181)
LLOYD VU (SBN 248717)
1888 Century Park East, Suite 1850
Los Angeles, California 90067
Telephone: (310) 557-9100
Facsimile: (310) 557-9101

## II. INTRODUCTION

It has long been understood that the establishment of charter schools constitutes an implicit criticism of and challenge to the existing traditional public school system. The movement for charter schools has been fueled by the belief that public schools have failed in certain respects, and that at least part of the reason they have failed is because of their monopoly on providing public education. Charter schools thus serve to break and challenge the monopoly of traditional public schools, offering alternatives that empower parental choice in their children's education. Furthermore, by placing competitive pressures on traditional public schools, charter schools shock traditional public schools out of complacency and force them to change for the better. Given that charter schools and traditional public schools must vie for the same limited public funds, charter schools have been competing with

public schools on both a policy and financial level since their acceptance into the education system.

Given what many termed as an "acrimonious relationship" between charter schools and the current educational establishment, when the revocation of a school's charter is at issue—and thus it's effective elimination from competition—it is imperative to provide charter schools with a fair hearing that comports with due process. Indeed, as revocation of a charter school's charter will directly increase the amount of public funds available to a public school, the potential for abuse is clear and the need for a neutral and impartial adjudicator is apparent. As Governor Schwarzenegger noted when signing a charter school revocation bill into law, "revocation is a serious matter that causes a disruption in instructional services for the school's students, the need for a charter school to have its case heard before a more disinterested body is clear." Exactly how disinterested, however, has been unclear.

Nevertheless, in this case, the Court of Appeal, in a published opinion, held that despite the institutional bias existing between charter schools and traditional public schools—as they directly compete for students and funds—and further despite the lack of neutrality specifically admitted by the school district itself in this case, traditional public school districts may

nevertheless adjudicate the revocation of the charter school's charter without violating due process. The court further held that a full and fair hearing was not even required for revocation proceedings, holding that a traditional public school district is under no obligation to even present its evidence and arguments in order to give a charter school an adequate opportunity to rebut. The court held that neither due process nor Education Code § 47607 require anything more.

This opinion must not stand. As an initial matter, construing both due process and section 47607 in such a restrictive myopic manner effectively prevents charter schools throughout California from having the benefit of a neutral and impartial adjudicator during revocation proceedings. Further, this holding is in direct conflict with the precedent established by this Court that where a decision-maker exhibits a significant pecuniary interest in the case at hand, the mere probability of such a bias is simply considered constitutionally unacceptable.

Thus, if this published opinion is allowed to stand, it will create confusion among the courts and education system alike as to the permissible amount of bias due process actually permits. Specifically, this opinion will hold that despite this Court's acknowledgement of the dangers inherent in pecuniary biases, an entity with a direct financial interest in the revocation

itself may nevertheless oversee and determine the revocation of its own competitors without violating due process. Such a result must not come to pass.

The issue in this case is ideal for review. The facts necessary to resolve the issues are simple and undisputed. There is no question that the charter school here has a substantial property interest in its charter, entitling it to procedural due process. There is also no question that the charter school and public school agency in this case necessarily compete for public funding. Thus, the primary question is whether the public school agency can constitutionally adjudicate a hearing involving the revocation of the charter school's charter—that is, whether an entity may fairly determine the fate of its financial competitor.

# III. STATEMENT OF FACT

## A. Background On Charter Schools

A charter school is a publicly funded, nonsectarian, tuition-free school that operates under a charter negotiated between the school's organizers and a public authorizer. The charter is a performance contract that details the school's mission, program goals, methods of measuring success, and the types of students it will serve. By their establishment, charter schools

provide families with an opportunity to choose an education for their children in public schools that are separated from the local public school system. This type of choice is especially geared towards families who believe that the traditional public schools are not well suited for their children but are unable to afford private schools or the ability to relocate to more highly regarded school districts. Thus, if families are dissatisfied with the traditional public schools of their local school district, they may seek placement of their children in available public charter schools. Thus, "charter schools represent a challenge to the monopoly on public schooling long enjoyed by the traditional 'educational establishment." (Sandra Vergari, Charter Schools: A Significant Precedent In Public Education (2003) 59 N.Y.U. Ann. Surv. Am. L. 495, 497.) Indeed, in enacting the Charter School Act (1992), Education Code § 47600 et.seq., the California Legislature stated: "[i]t is the intent of the Legislature, in enacting this part,... to accomplish ... the following: (g) Provide vigorous competition within the public school system to stimulate continual improvements in all public schools." (Educ. Code § 47601(g).)

The competition between both charter schools and traditional public schools is apparent. This is particularly true when it comes to public funding. For both public schools and charter schools, funding is determined

largely by the average daily attendance ("ADA") of students. In passing the Charter Schools Act, the legislature intended "that each charter school be provided with operational funding that is equal to the total funding that would be available to a similar school district serving a similar pupil population." Educ. Code § 47630(a). Thus, because public money follows the student, public schools and charter schools must compete for students in order to obtain funding.

### B. The Parties.

Today's Fresh Start, Inc. ("Today's Fresh Start") is a county-wide charter school serving economically underprivileged areas of Los Angeles County. (Opn. 2.) Los Angeles County Office of Education ("LACOE") is a regional education agency under the leadership of Los Angeles County Board of Education ("LACBOE"). (Id.) LACBOE was Today's Fresh Start's chartering authority and a signatory to the charter petition agreement between the parties. (Id.) LACBOE initially granted the charter in 2003 and renewed the charter in 2005 for a five-year term. (Id.)

## C. The Revocation of Today's Fresh Start's Charter.

On or about June of 2007, LACOE began expressing concerns about Today's Fresh Start's operation. (*Id.* at 3.) The parties subsequently attempted to work through LACOE's concerns, but those efforts did not bear

fruit. (*Id.* at 3-4.) On or about October of 2007, Dr. Darline Robles, the Superintendent of LACOE and CEO of LACBOE, formally recommended to LACBOE that it revoke Today's Fresh Start's charter. (*Id.* at 4.) LACBOE approved this recommendation, and revocation proceedings were initiated against Today's Fresh Start. (*Id.* at 4-5.)

On or about November of 2007, LACBOE held a public hearing on its intent to revoke Today's Fresh Start's charter. (*Id.* at 5.) While Today's Fresh Start presented substantial evidence demonstrating why the revocation was improper, LACOE remained noticeably silent, and in fact presented no evidence or arguments in support of revocation at the hearing. (*See id.* at 5-6.)

One thing that LACBOE did make clear at this hearing, however, was that LACBOE was not a neutral entity. Particularly, when Today's Fresh Start objected to the proceedings on the grounds that LACBOE was not neutral, LACOE and LACBOE's general counsel, Ms. Sheri Kim Gale, publicly agreed, and explicitly instructed LACBOE on this lack of neutrality. (*See id.* at 6.) Specifically, when one of the LACBOE Board Members asked Ms. Gale about the issue of impartiality, Ms. Gale stated that there was no need for the revocation to be decided by an impartial body: "In this matter, in this process, you are not neutral." (*See id.*) Ms. Gale also

stated that Today's Fresh Start was not entitled to an impartial decision-maker until it appealed the revocation to the State Board of Education. (See id.) Ms. Gale's interpretation was expressly adopted by LACBOE. (See id.)

On December 11, 2007, LACBOE voted 4 to 3 to revoke Today's Fresh Start's charter. (*Id.* at 7-8.) Though Today's Fresh Start would seek further administrative remedies, including appellate review by the State Board, and despite the fact that even the California Department of Education ("CDE") would ultimately side with Today's Fresh Start—finding that LACBOE's findings were unclear and not supported by substantial evidence and thus recommending reversal—due to misunderstandings with the applicable law the revocation was nevertheless ultimately upheld. (*See id.* at 8-10.)

# D. The Due Process Debates Among The Courts Below

On or about December of 2007, Today's Fresh Start filed a petition for a writ of administrative mandamus in the superior court. (*Id.* at 10.) During this proceeding, Today's Fresh Start moved for judgment, arguing that Today's Fresh Start was deprived of due process. (*Id.* at 12.) The trial court granted the motion. (*Id.*)

First, the trial court found that because LACBOE was not a neutral decision-maker, the trial court ruled that Today's Fresh Start had been

deprived of its right to a fair and impartial tribunal. (*Id.* at 12-13.) Second, the trial court found that Today's Fresh Start's due process rights were also violated by LACOE's failure to introduce any evidence supporting the revocation at the hearing, thus depriving Today's Fresh Start of an adequate opportunity to rebut. (*Id.* at 12.)

LACOE and LACBOE appealed, and the Court of Appeal reversed. (See id. at 42.) In essence, the Court of Appeal held that even though LACBOE may not in fact be neutral, Today's Fresh Start did not present sufficient concrete evidence of bias to overcome the presumption of honesty and integrity in those serving as adjudicators. (See id. at 36.) The court further noted Today's Fresh Start is afforded additional protection due to the fact that section 47607 (g) provides for review by the more impartial State Board of Education. (Id. at 37-39.) Finally, the court reasoned that an evidentiary hearing is not required as long as Today's Fresh Start has been generally apprised of the facts in existence against it. (Id. at 25-29.)

# IV. REASONS FOR GRANTING REVIEW

Granting review is critical in this case. The Court of Appeal's published decision has significantly impacted, and will continue to impact, a charter schools' ability to have their revocation proceedings heard by a

neutral and impartial decision-maker in a full and fair manner. First, the Court of Appeal's opinion restricts charter schools' rights to truly neutral and impartial decision-makers in the revocation proceedings—indeed, under the Court of Appeal's holding, not only may an entity with a direct pecuniary interest act as a decision-maker in the revocation proceeding without offending due process, but that decision-maker may also be explicitly instructed not to act with neutrality, and according to the Court of Appeal due process is still satisfied.

Second, the Court of Appeal establishes that a revoking entity need not present any evidence or arguments at the revocation hearing under Education Code § 47607. Instead, the Court of Appeal holds that due process is satisfied as long as the charter school had in its possession the ultimate facts that the revoking entity relied upon, regardless of whether the charter school actually knew such a fact would be used or even the basis of its use. In essence, the revoking entity need only produce all the relevant evidence and leave it to the charter school to sort out the details, including divining the revoking entities arguments determining for itself what assertions are still relevant and material.

Each of these due process holdings by the Court of Appeal will have deep ramifications for charter schools going forward, as they directly impact

a charter school's ability to remain in business and continue servicing its students and the community. As explained below, review must be granted to ensure that, at a minimum, charter schools are given a full and fair hearing before neutral and unbiased decision-maker, and in particular, a decision-maker who lacks a financial incentive to shut down the very charter schools it is competing against.

# A. The Decision Below Deprives Charter Schools Of Neutral And Impartial Adjudicators

California law is clear that in any administrative action, procedural due process requires that the hearing take place before an impartial adjudicator. (*Haas v. County of San Bernardino* (2002) 27 Cal.4th 1017; *Quintero v. City of Santa Ana* (2003)114 Cal.App.4th 810, 814 ("In an administrative action, procedural due process entitles a party to a hearing 'before a reasonably impartial, noninvolved reviewer....").) "A fair trial in a fair tribunal is a basic requirement of due process. This is true of administrative adjudication as it is of courts." (*Golden Day Schools, Inc. v. State Dept. of Education* (2000) 83 Cal.App.4th 695, 709, internal citations and quotations omitted); *Nasha L.L.C. v City of Los Angeles* (2004) 125 Cal.App.4th 470, 483, internal citations and quotations omitted). Thus, in *Haas*, this Court discussed in detail the due process rights a party has in

connection with an administrative evidentiary hearing. Paramount in the discussion was the right to an impartial adjudicator.

When due process requires a hearing, the adjudicator must be impartial. Speaking of administrative hearings, and articulating the procedural requirements demanded by rudimentary due process in that setting, the court has said that, 'of course an impartial decision maker is essential.

(27 Cal.4th at 1025 (emphasis added).) Indeed, impartial decision-makers are so vital to a fair hearing that the usual cost-benefit analyses applicable to most due process procedural safeguards do not apply. (*Id.* at 1035) ("[t]he unfairness that results from biased decisionmakers strikes so deeply at our sense of justice that it differs qualitatively from the injury that results from insufficient procedures. In Justice Holmes' famous phrase, 'even a dog distinguishes between being stumbled over and being kicked."".)

The Decision Below Permits Financial Competitor To
 Adjudicate The Rights Of Their Competitors, And Conflicts
 With Established Precedent Regarding Pecuniary Bias

"Of all the types of bias that can affect adjudication, pecuniary interest has long received the most unequivocal condemnation and the least forgiving scrutiny." (*Id.* at 1025.) "Thus, while adjudicators challenged for reasons other than financial interest have in effect been afforded a presumption of impartiality, *adjudicators challenged for financial interest* 

have not." (Id. (citations omitted, emphasis added).) This rule applies in full force to both judicial and administrative hearings. (Id. at 1026-27 ("It is sufficiently clear from our cases that those with substantial pecuniary interest in legal proceedings should not adjudicate these disputes.... It has also come to be the prevailing view that '[m]ost of the law concerning disqualification because of interest applies with equal force to ... administrative adjudicators").) As this Court explained, "the adjudicator's financial interest in the outcome presents a 'situation[] ... in which experience teaches that the probability of actual bias on the part of the judge or decisionmaker is too high to be constitutionally tolerable." (Id. at 1027.) Thus the risk of bias caused by financial interest need not manifest itself in overtly prejudiced rulings, but instead "[t]he 'possible temptation' not to be scrupulously fair, alone and in itself, offends the Constitution." (Id. at 1030 (citations omitted).)

The possible temptation to be unfair clearly exists in the charter school revocation context. As discussed above, charter schools such as Today's Fresh Start and public school institutions such as LACBOE must necessarily compete for students in order to obtain funding. As described by one author, "[c]harter schools present not only a policy challenge to the authority of the traditional education establishment but also a financial

challenge. Students who leave a traditional public school to attend a charter school are followed by per pupil funding that would otherwise go to the traditional public school." (Sandra Vergari, Charter Schools: A Significant Precedent In Public Education (2003) 59 N.Y.U. Ann. Surv. Am. L. 495, 499.) Thus, the financial tension between charter schools and public schools have been well-known and documented; because each school must compete for students in order to obtain funding, there essentially exists a zero-sum game between charter schools and public schools. See Michael M. Amir, Charter Fights, The Competing Rights of Charter Schools and Local School Districts Are Triggering Myriad Legal Disputes, (2008) 31-AUG L.A. Law. 24, 27 ("While this funding system can promote competition among charter and traditional school districts to attract students and teachers, it can also create a tension between the two groups. After all, a local school district is not only a charter school's competition but also frequently its chartering authority."). Indeed, considering that public schools stand to lose millions when students switch to charter schools, the desire of public schools to limit charter schools is apparent. (See id. ("The loss of funding can further strain local districts because schools have fixed costs that do not decrease commensurately with the loss of each student. In 2006, for example, the Los Angeles Unified School District lost an estimated \$114 million after losing

20,000 students, but saved only \$40 million from no longer having to serve those students.").)

Given this direct competition between charter schools and public schools, and the potential for millions of dollars in public funds at stake, there can be no doubt that public school agencies such as LACOE and LACBOE have a direct pecuniary interest in the revocation of charter schools such as Today's Fresh Start. Simply put, the more charter schools LACBOE can permissibly revoke, the more funds become available for its own schools. Clearly, this presents a situation where the likelihood of bias is very real. Given that school districts stand to gain potentially millions of dollars as a direct consequence of a revoking a charter school's charter, the probability of bias is constitutionally unacceptable. (See Haas, 27 Cal. 4th at 1033 ("an adjudicator's financial stake in the outcome of a dispute, create exceptional situations 'in which the probability or likelihood of the existence of actual bias is so great that disqualification of a judicial officer is required to preserve the integrity of the legal system, even without proof that the judicial officer is actually biased towards a party."").)

Thus, not only does the Court of Appeal's opinion deprive charter schools such as Today's Fresh Start of neutral and impartial adjudicators, the court's opinion also lies in direct conflict with the principles this Court set

forth in Haas. Though the Court of Appeal did not specifically consider the ramifications of financial bias in its decision, the simple reality is that charter schools and public school districts do compete on both a policy and financial level. As a result of this reality, this opinion will inevitably stand as an example that public school agencies may permissibly eliminate the competing charter schools in revocation proceedings without running afoul of due process. Further, this opinion may stand for the proposition that, in certain situations, decision-makers may have a substantial pecuniary interest in a proceeding but may still nevertheless adjudicate that proceeding without violating due process, an idea currently in conflict with this Court's opinion in *Haas*. Therefore, review is necessary to clarify the rights regarding revocation charter schools may have going forward, particularly when chartering authorities have a pecuniary interest in revocation.

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