Supreme Court Case No. S195852

IN THE SUPREME COURT

SUPREME COURT

SEP - 9 2011

Frederick K. Chlrich Clerk

Deputy

OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

TODAY'S FRESH START, INC.,

12

Plaintiff, Respondent, and Cross-Appellant,

VS.

LOS ANGELES COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION, et al.,

Defendants, Appellants, and Cross-Respondents.

After A Decision By The Court Of Appeal Second Appellate District, Division One 2d Civil Case No. B212966 c/w B214470 Los Angeles County Superior Court Case No. BS 112656

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

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

ARGUMENT

I. THE PETITION SHOULD BE DENIED BECAUSE THERE IS NO CONFLICT IN THE CASE LAW.

To justify review, TFS contends the Court of Appeal's opinion "is in direct conflict with the precedent established by this Court that where a decision-maker exhibits a significant pecuniary interest in the case at hand, the mere probability of such a bias is simply considered constitutionally unacceptable." (Petn. 3.) That precedent is presumably *Haas v. County of San Bernardino* (2002) 27 Cal.4th 1017, in which this Court held that the disqualification of a hearing officer, on appeal from a license revocation, was constitutionally mandated where the officer had a "direct, personal, substantial, pecuniary interest" in reaching a certain outcome. (*Id.* at pp. 1024-1025, internal quotations and citations omitted.)^{1/1} Under such circumstances, "the probability of actual bias on the part of the judge or decisionmaker is too high to be constitutionally tolerable." (*Id.* at p. 1027.)

TFS contends the same holds true here, casting the County Board as a "financial competitor" because "charter schools and traditional public schools must vie for the same limited public funds." (Petn. 1; see Petn. 12-16.) This alleged pecuniary interest is too tenuous "to offer a possible temptation to the average person as adjudicator" not to be fair. (Haas v. County of San Bernardino, supra, 27 Cal.4th at p.1034.) This is

¹ In *Haas*, the County selected and paid the hearing officer whose income from future work depended on the County's goodwill. (*Id.* at pp.1020, 1024.)

particularly so when the same supposedly biased agency had also granted and then renewed TFS's charter. (Opn. 2.)

In any event, TFS faults the Court of Appeal for "not specifically consider[ing] the ramifications of financial bias in its decision." (Petn. 16.) There was good reason for that: alleged financial competition is a brand new issue in this case. As the Court of Appeal stated, "There was no evidence of a financial or personal interest on the part of the County Board, nor did TFS show 'concrete facts' giving rise to an unacceptable probability of actual bias." (Opn. 32.) Because it is a new issue and one that is fact dependent, it should not be considered now. (See Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.500(c)(1) ["on petition for review the Supreme Court normally will not consider an issue that the petitioner failed to timely raise in the court of appeal].)

Moreover, if TFS believed the Court of Appeal omitted or misstated facts pertaining to the County Board's alleged financial interest in revocation, it should have brought the alleged omissions or misstatements to the Court of Appeal's attention with a petition for rehearing. Because TFS did not petition for rehearing, a prerequisite to this Court's consideration of the issue has not been met. (See *In re Marriage of Goddard* (2004) 33 Cal.4th 49, 53, fn. 2 [declining to address an argument for failure to raise any alleged misstatement of fact in the opinion of the court of appeal in a petition for rehearing]; see also *Jacob B. v. County of Shasta* (2007) 40 Cal.4th 948, 952 [where neither party petitions the court of appeal for

rehearing, the Supreme Court "take[s] [its] facts largely from that court's opinion"]; see Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.500(c)(2) ["... the Supreme Court normally will accept the court of appeal opinion's statement of the issues and facts unless the party has called the court of appeal's attention to any alleged omission or misstatement of an issue or fact in a petition for rehearing."].)

The purported conflict in the case law urged by TFS to justify review does not exist. The petition should be denied on this basis.

II. THE PETITION SHOULD BE DENIED BECAUSE THE

COURT OF APPEAL APPLIED SETTLED LAW TO HOLD

THAT THE PROCEDURES LEADING UP TO THE VOTE TO

REVOKE TFS'S CHARTER COMPORTED WITH DUE

PROCESS.

The Charter Schools Act of 1992 (Ed. Code, § 47600, et seq.) governs the establishment and operation of charter schools in California, and provides substantial protections for a charter school facing revocation. (Opn. 14-15.) It requires the authorizing agency give the charter school notice of any violation of charter or law and a reasonable opportunity to remedy; it requires a written notice of intent to revoke, as well as of the facts supporting revocation once a reasonable time to remedy has expired; it requires a public hearing; it requires revocation to be based on written factual findings supported by substantial evidence; it provides for appeal. (Ed. Code, § 47607, subd. (d), (e), and (g).)

The trial court in this case determined that due process required more, specifically the introduction of the evidence supporting revocation during a public hearing and a preliminary evidentiary hearing before an unbiased hearing officer who would then make findings to be accepted or rejected by the County Board. (Opn. 12-13, 28-29.)

The Court of Appeal disagreed. Applying settled principles of the law pertaining to due process to the facts before it, the Court of Appeal held that due process did not require either the formal introduction of evidence supporting revocation at the public hearing on revocation, nor did it require a separate evidentiary hearing before the revocation vote was taken.

(Opn. 27-29.) Because the court analyzed and decided the question in a manner consistent with the law on this subject and the facts of this case, there is no need for this Court to address it. The petition should be denied.

A. Legal Principles.

The Court of Appeal's analysis is not controversial. Rather, it is firmly within the parameters of settled principles of law pertaining to due process, including the following:

- "Due process principles require reasonable notice and opportunity to be heard before governmental deprivation of a significant property interest." (*Horn v. County of Ventura* (1979) 24 Cal.3d 605, 612; *Mohilef v. Janovici* (1996) 51 Cal.App.4th 267, 286; Opn. 24.)
- "[T]here is no precise manner of hearing which must be afforded; rather the particular interest at issue must be considered in

determining what kind of hearing is appropriate. A formal hearing, with full rights of confrontation and cross examination is not necessarily required." (*Saleeby v. State Bar* (1985) 39 Cal.3d 547, 565; *Mohilef v. Janovici, supra*, 51 Cal.App.4th at p. 286; Opn. 24.)

- "The judicial model of an evidentiary hearing is neither required, nor even the most effective method of decision-making in all circumstances." (*Mathews v. Eldridge, supra*, 424 U.S. at p. 348; Opn. 25.)
- What process is due depends on weighing the private and governmental interest involved. (*Oberholzer v. Commission on Judicial Performance* (1999) 20 Cal.4th 371, 390; *Mathews v. Eldridge*, *supra*, 424 U.S. at p. 335; Opn. 22.)

The Court of Appeal simply applied these principles to the facts before it and found, correctly, that the revocation procedures in this case complied with due process. There is no need for this Court to review its decision.

B. The Court Of Appeal Correctly Determined That Due
Process Does Not Require The Formal Introduction Of
Evidence At The Revocation Hearing.

Reviewing cases relied on by TFS in the lower court, the Court of Appeal acknowledged that "it would violate due process for an administrative agency to conduct a hearing while failing to disclose evidence to the party before it, and to make a decision in which it reveals

the undisclosed evidence for the first time." (Opn. 26, citing *English v. City* of Long Beach (1950) 35 Cal.2d 155, 158.) But that did not happen here.

TFS did not contend in the trial court and does not argue on this appeal that TFS was not apprised of all the evidence against it, or that either the County Board or the State Board relied on evidence not disclosed to TFS during the revocation process. Unless evidence received by the Administrative Board making the decision was not disclosed, due process is not violated. (Candlestick Properties, Inc. v. San Francisco Conservation etc. Com. (1970) 11 Cal.App.3d 557, 570 [English does not apply where there was no concealment].) The lack of a formal introduction of evidence did not render the revocation process unfair.

(Opn. 27; see Opn. 4 [TFS was provided the same three binders of materials provided the County Board for the initial study session on the question of revocation].) As the court noted, "[p]rocedural informality is the hallmark of administrative proceedings as opposed to judicial proceedings It is settled that strict rules of evidence do not apply to administrative proceedings." (Opn. 27, citing *Mohilef v. Janovici*, *supra*, 51 Cal.App.4th at p. 291, internal quotations and citations omitted.)

The gist of TFS's response to the opinion is that without a formal presentation of evidence at a public hearing, there will be so much evidence of wrong-doing that a charter school in its position will not know what evidence will turn out to be important to the authorizing agency. (See, e.g., Petn. 10 ["the revoking entity need only produce all the relevant evidence and leave it to the charter school to sort out the details, including divining the revoking entities arguments . . ."]; see also Petn. 21-22 ["as long as the

necessary evidence has been produced, a charter school has been apprised of the case against it; the burden is therefore on the charter school to sort through the evidence, determine which violations a revoking agency may rely on, and address those issues on its own . . .].)

What evidence will turn out to be decisive is rarely, if ever, known until a decision is made and factual findings are issued. (See Opn. 8 ["The County Board adopted factual findings regarding improprieties in student testing, material violations of the charter, the Brown Act, and the Corporations Code, and TFS's failure to correct numerous provisions of the corrective action plan . . ."].)² TFS does not make clear how repeating, at a formal hearing, the evidence already provided in three binders at the start of the revocation process, would make it more possible for a charter school to understand the basis of the decision against it.

As the Court of Appeal noted, due process is a "flexible" process. (Opn. 21, citing *Mathews v. Eldridge, supra*, 424 U.S. at p. 334; see also *Saleeby v. State Bar, supra*, 39 Cal.3d at p. 563). TFS had notice of the allegations against it from the beginning when it was sent a report of LACOE's investigative findings and a corrective action plan. (Opn. 3.) TFS was able to marshall its own documents in rebuttal ("roughly 700 pages"), as well as individuals to speak on its behalf at County Board meetings in 2007 on October 16, November 6, November 20, December 4

²/ TFS complains of "fifty-three allegations of wrongdoing." (Petn. 23.) LACOE reported TFS had failed to correct forty-seven of fifty-three items on the corrective action plan. (Opn. 6.)

and December 11. (Opn. 3-7.) The process provided under the Education Code was a full and fair opportunity for TFS to rebut the charges against it.

Given these facts, the lack of the formal introduction of evidence at the revocation proceeding does not, and did not in this case, create an unacceptable risk of an erroneous deprivation of a protected interest.

(Opn. 27.) Review is unnecessary, and the petition should be denied on this basis.

- C. The Court Of Appeal Correctly Determined That Due
 Process Does Not Require A Separate Preliminary
 Evidentiary Hearing Before A Neutral Hearing Officer.
 - 1. There was no evidence of bias.

Education Code section 47607, subdivision (e) provides for a public hearing "in the normal course of business." The Court of Appeal rejected the trial court's conclusion that the statute does not meet the minimum requirements of due process because it does not provide for an additional, preliminary evidentiary hearing before an unbiased hearing officer.

(Opn. 28-39.) TFS contends the opinion cannot stand because it "expresses a high tolerance of bias," manifest in the purported fact that Sheri Gale, general counsel to LACOE and the County Board, "specifically instructed [the County Board] that it was not to be impartial" and in the evidence of "overlapping functions" by which, for example, Gale advised both LACOE and the County Board. ³⁴ (Petn. 17.)

³/ The County is the governing board of LACOE. (Opn. 2.)

Rather than tolerating bias as TFS charges, however, the Court of Appeal carefully examined the actual evidence from which TFS's allegations take flight and rightly found no bias existed.

First, the court found that "there was no evidence of a financial or personal interest on the part of the County Board. (Opn. 32.)⁴ Then, relying on established case authority, the court went on to explain that, absent a pecuniary interest, one must show, with specific facts, the probability of actual bias. (Opn. 31.) TFS's facts—Gale's remark that the County Board was "not neutral" and the "overlapping functions"—did not measure up as "concrete facts' giving rise to an unacceptable probability of actual bias." (Opn. 32.)

In its petition, TFS lifts Gale's remark out of context to convey the impression she was "instructing" the County Board to be unfair, "not to be impartial" or honest in its assessment of the evidence. (Petn. 17.) But context is important, and the opinion repeats her remarks in their entirety before explaining:

Paraphrased and summarized, Gale's remarks explained that the County Board, the authorizer of the charter, was charged by section 47607 with the revocation decision. LACOE would advise the County Board on the revocation, just as it made recommendations to the County Board on new charter petitions. The statute also provided for an appeal to the State Board which required independent counsel for both sides and

⁴/ Hence, TFS's belated attempt in its petition to enhance its evidence of purported bias by arguing that the manner in which schools are financed establishes a pecuniary interest, an argument that must be rejected for the reasons stated above. (See § I, ante.)

disclosure of all communications. The County Board, as the entity initially granting the charter, was "not neutral."

(Opn. 29.)

Concluding, the court stated:

The statement that the County Board was 'not neutral,' seized upon by TFS and relied upon by the trial court, is both accurate and constitutionally acceptable. The County Board was 'not neutral' because it had initially authorized TFS's charter, and later renewed it. To say that the County Board was 'biased' against TFS because it was the authorizing authority is nonsensical. (It would make just as little sense to conclude that the County Board was biased in *favor* of TFS, because it had decided to grant TFS's charter in the first case and subsequently renewed it.)

(Opn. 36, original emphasis.)

With respect to overlapping functions, the Court of Appeal found these did not establish the probability of actual bias either:

What took place at the revocation hearing was the unexceptional circumstance of general counsel and other LACOE staff advising the County Board regarding the initial decision whether to reverse TFS's charter. It cannot be said to violate due process for the County Board, the governing board of LACOE, to rely on LACOE staff to investigate and make recommendations regarding revocation of TFS's charter. At the State Board appeal, the CDE performed similar functions for the State Board (which is the CDE's governing and policy-making body) by reviewing the entire record, corresponding with TFS and LACOE, and preparing an analysis which recommended reversal of the revocation, without (understandably) any objection from TFS.

(Opn. 35-36.)

2. The balancing test required by law confirmed that no process beyond that provided by Education Code section 47607 was due.

As mentioned (§ II.A., *ante*), to determine what process is due in a given circumstance, courts weigh the private and governmental interests involved. (*Oberholzer v. Commission on Judicial Performance, supra*, 20 Cal.4th at p. 390; *Mathews v. Eldridge, supra*, 424 U.S. at p. 335.) In this case, the trial court imposed the requirement of an additional evidentiary hearing without performing any balancing test. (Opn. 30.) It had erroneously concluded there was evidence of bias, specifically, Gale's "not neutral" remark.

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